



March 2023

When Community Colleges Offer a Bachelor's Degree

A Literature Review on Student Access and Outcomes

Elizabeth Meza & Ivy Love

Last edited on March 23, 2023 at 3:06 p.m. EDT

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Ascendium for their generous support of this work, especially our program officer, Sue Cui. Our writing benefited greatly from the guidance and support of Mary Alice McCarthy, Iris Palmer, and Sabrina Detlef. We are grateful to Fabio Murgia, Mandy Dean, Kim Akker, Joe Wilkes, and Jodi Narde for their support with communications and the publication process.

About the Author(s)

Elizabeth Meza is a Senior Research Scientist in the Evans School of Public Policy and Governance at the University of Washington.

Ivy Love is a senior policy analyst in the Center on Education & Labor at New America, where her work focuses on community colleges, their students, and federal and state policies that support them.

About New America

We are dedicated to renewing the promise of America by continuing the quest to realize our nation's highest ideals, honestly confronting the challenges caused by rapid technological and social change, and seizing the opportunities those changes create.

About Education Policy

We use original research and policy analysis to help solve the nation's critical education problems, crafting objective analyses and suggesting new ideas for policymakers, educators, and the public at large.

Contents

| Introduction | 5 |
|---|----|
| History and Growth of Community College Bachelor's Degrees (CCBs) | 7 |
| Controversy about CCBs | 9 |
| Evidence on CCBs and Access to Bachelor's Degree Programs | 12 |
| Evidence on CCB Student Outcomes | 15 |
| Perceptions of CCB Degrees | 15 |
| Completion Outcomes | 15 |
| Employment Outcomes | 16 |
| Wage Outcomes | 16 |
| Opportunities for Future Research | 20 |
| Conclusion | 21 |

Introduction

College can seem out of reach for many students who perceive a bachelor's degree as unaffordable and unattainable. It is no surprise, then, that students from the top socioeconomic quintile enroll in college more than 50 percentage points more than students from the bottom quintile and are much less likely to first seek an associate degree.¹ For many low-income students, students of color, and adult students, the pathway to a bachelor's degree begins at a community college. According to the National Student Clearinghouse Research Center (NSCRC), only 23 percent of students who began at a community college and attended exclusively full time were able to transfer and complete a bachelor's degree within six years.² Transfer and graduation rates are much worse for the majority of students who attend part time and they are stubbornly dismal for Black, Native American, Latinx, and low-income students.³ A variety of transfer interventions (articulation agreements, guided pathways, university centers, credential stacking, and others) have done some good but the COVID-19 pandemic only worsened the state of transfer.⁴ It is clear that transfer is not working for many community college students who want bachelor's degrees.

And it makes sense that about 80 percent of community college students aim to earn bachelor's degrees.⁵ The bachelor's degree remains the main entry point to the middle class. Americans without these degrees are especially vulnerable to economic downturns.⁶ Coming out of the Great Recession, almost 75 percent of new jobs went to bachelor's degree holders.⁷ But many students, especially those in rural areas, live in education deserts, where access to bachelor's degrees is limited.⁸ And even where there are colleges and universities in the area, sometimes this is an "opportunity mirage,"⁹ where there are higher education opportunities but students can't access them due to cost, program capacity constraints, work, or caregiving responsibilities or other challenges facing adult and non-traditional students.¹⁰ Students need options to further their education that are accessible to them where they are, with the resources and time that they have.

One solution to these issues that has become more popular in recent years is allowing community colleges to offer bachelor's degrees, often in high-demand and applied fields. Bachelor's degree programs offered by community colleges don't just expand access, they do so in a way that fills critical equity gaps facing adult and working learners, rural students, and those who began at a community college and want to continue where they started.

But allowing community colleges to deliver bachelor's degrees is controversial. Higher education leaders and those in state legislatures fear mission creep, duplication, low quality, and undermining traditional colleges and universities.¹¹ The purpose of this literature review is to provide an overview of the research on the community college bachelor's degree (CCB),¹² with a particular eye to questions of equity, labor market returns, student outcomes, quality, and whether these programs address key choke points and widen access to the bachelor's degree and economic stability.

History and Growth of Community College Bachelor's Degrees (CCBs)

With little fanfare, states began authorizing community colleges to confer baccalaureate degrees over three decades ago. West Virginia was the first state to authorize an associate-dominant institution to award both associate's and bachelor's degrees.¹³ By 2021, one or more associate-dominant institutions, more commonly called community colleges, were approved to confer baccalaureate degrees in 24 states.¹⁴ Among these, Florida and Washington State are recognized as having scaled up baccalaureate degrees to all or nearly all of their associates-dominant colleges.¹⁵

CCBs are awarded by community and technical colleges that have historically conferred associate degrees as their highest credential. CCB-conferring colleges remain associate-dominant but have added the bachelor's degrees to their portfolio of degrees offered. While CCB degrees can be offered in a wide range of fields, they are typically focused on programs of study that are critical to local and regional economies where community college students live and work.¹⁶ CCBs explicitly seek to transform career technical education (CTE) designed to terminate in non-degree program certificates and associate degrees into baccalaureate pathways and provide a path to the baccalaureate in programs of study that have not prioritized transfer in the past.¹⁷ To resolve inequities, CCB programs offer a solution to complement and bolster transfer and improve postsecondary attainment nationwide.

One of the first studies to be published in 2009 on CCBs by Barbara Townsend and her colleagues Debra Bragg and Collin Ruud noted CCB programs tend to be built on curricula considered "terminal" by the higher education systems.¹⁸ Terminal education refers to occupationally focused programs whose goal is to exit graduates to employment rather than transfer them to universities. In focusing on employment, terminal programs often omit coursework that enables students to transfer on track to attain a baccalaureate without substantial loss of credit and increased cost.

In a study of terminal education in North Carolina, Mark D'Amico, Cameron Sublett, and James Bartlett II noted a higher percentage of these students come from economically distressed counties than traditional transfer students do. They observed the transfer of terminal education students is "an issue of equity and social and economic mobility" in that state (and likely in others) and that transfer and articulation agreements do not adequately address the continuing education of "terminal" degree holders.¹⁹ Given the likelihood these students are more demographically diverse than students enrolling in traditional transfer programs, failure to provide pathways to baccalaureate attainment is problematic to improving equity in higher education. Yet another factor contributing to CCB policy adoption is cost. In their 2019 report updating the national landscape for CCB degrees, Deborah Floyd and Michael Skolnik cited research gathered from community college leaders who argued CCBs are not only more affordable, but also more geographically accessible and conveniently delivered to working adults.²⁰ Research by Debra Bragg and Maria Claudia Soler and Lia Wetzstein, Elizabeth Meza, and Debra Bragg that showed working adults are a primary audience for CCB degrees because they enable students to continue working while paying lower tuition and fees in pursuit of the baccalaureate.²¹ By offering programs close to home and work, students can continue working and do not have to defer income that comes with attending college in close enough proximity to work to retain employment. Interviews with working students pursuing CCB degrees to advance in their current careers also revealed leaving employment—often full-time jobs—was antithetical to achieving their goal of baccalaureate attainment, many had to work to pay for school and meet the needs of themselves and their dependents.²²

Finally, these degrees help a state to increase bachelor's degree production and expand the workforce mission of community and technical colleges.²³ The most common CCB programs are in high-demand areas such as business, education, and health professions.²⁴ By serving a new population of students in these high-need areas at the bachelor's level, the degrees can increase educational pathways for professional and technical associate graduates who have faced barriers to applying credits toward a bachelor's degree.

In recent testimony in Washington State, Sheila Edwards-Lange, president of Seattle Central College, said, "almost 600 students a year enroll in our programming courses. These students intend to transfer and continue in computer science, but what we hear from them is that the programs they want to transfer to are constrained and hard to get into." But, she said, "many end up transferring in other fields. That is a loss for them and the companies that want to hire them."²⁵ Community colleges that offer bachelor's programs to welcome students like those at Seattle Central support their career development in the communities they call home.

Controversy about CCBs

Perspectives on CCBs are by no means all positive. Though these programs are more commonplace now, higher education leaders hold a range of views on the role of community colleges in providing bachelor's degree programs. Recognizing the potential to upend established higher education norms, Michael Skolnik described the decision of community colleges to confer CCB degrees as "one of the most significant additions imaginable to the mission of these institutions."²⁶ He acknowledged tensions between community colleges and universities when the notion of CCB degrees is advanced.

Echoing this concern, a 2019 national survey of higher education leaders revealed a contrast in views on the necessity for CCB degrees among university and community college presidents.²⁷ University leaders worried about community colleges drifting away from their open-access mission and duplicating upper-division programs and degrees. Community college leaders saw CCB degrees as a way to increase access to affordable baccalaureate degrees, defending the mission of reaching students who would not transfer to get a baccalaureate degree.²⁸

Some university leaders including leaders of regional broad access colleges and universities claim that CCB degrees are a form of mission creep that allow community colleges to drift away from their historic open-access mission.²⁹ Efforts to reform the credentialing authority of community colleges to offer baccalaureate degrees in terminal education programs is controversial. The preponderance of university leaders responding to a Gallup Poll conducted for Inside Higher Education in 2019 believed community colleges should continue to focus on transfer rather than confer baccalaureate degrees, while community college leaders claimed more baccalaureate options were needed to meet changing student needs.³⁰

Both groups agreed that transfer is important to improving access to baccalaureate degrees, and they agreed on the need to strengthen transfer, but they differed on the need for baccalaureate degrees at the community college level to address transfer issues. A recent skirmish in California over the approval of new degrees illustrates this concern. Several proposed CCB proposals have been held up over claims that the programs are too similar to programs offered at California State University campuses: a cyberdefense and analysis program at San Diego City College and an ecosystem restoration and applied fire management program at Feather River College, for example.³¹ While the negotiation between sectors continues to play out in California, many states' approval processes specifically address duplication and use coordinating boards to settle disputes.³² Community college baccalaureates are less expensive for students. In a 2022 study of 10 CCB-authorizing states,³³ Ivy Love and Iris Palmer found that half required CCB institutions to keep upper-division tuition level with lower-division tuition, and one state requires level tuition for the majority of its colleges.³⁴ In three of four states included in this study where colleges are allowed to charge higher tuition for upper-division courses, average upper-division in-state tuition is higher at public universities than at community colleges.³⁵ Furthermore, community colleges are able to capitalize on existing facilities and equipment. However, there are potential added costs of securing regional accreditation, expanding libraries, and hiring faculty with doctoral degrees.³⁶ As Jeremy Wright-Kim has suggested, community college leaders should be aware that CCB programs may not improve the institutional bottom line, with extra stress possible in the initial years of a new CCB.³⁷

A study by Justin Ortagus and Xiaodan Hu suggests that community colleges that adopt CCB degree programs that amount to more than 10 percent of their program offerings raised tuition rates by about 25 percent.³⁸ This study raises questions about whether community colleges can offer CCB degrees without raising tuition for not only CCB students but other students who attend these colleges. However, the researchers are unable to attribute cost to specific aspects of attendance, such as coursework in the lower- or upper-division area of the undergraduate curriculum. It may be the case that these colleges are charging more for upper-division coursework, bringing their cost in line with other local options. California pilot program students cited affordability as the number one benefit of the CCB.³⁹

Another controversy manifests in the worries of university leaders about students and other constituents' confusion over CCB degrees appearing similar to university bachelor's programs when they are not. Complaints about unclear messages about CCB degrees have been lodged in California and Washington State, for example.⁴⁰ If baccalaureate degrees conferred by community colleges are substantially different or of lesser quality than university baccalaureate degrees, CCB graduates will be disadvantaged compared to university baccalaureate graduates. To this point, Debra Bragg and Maria Claudia Soler looked at the perceptions of CCB graduates in science, technology, engineering and mathematics (STEM) programs of study, and found they were uncertain about whether their degrees would secure well-paying jobs when competing with university bachelor's degree-holders.⁴¹ However, Gabriel Petek found no evidence of quality issues in 15 California programs studied and Potter found little evidence of quality concerns among employers.⁴² Furthermore, Elizabeth Meza and Debra Bragg and an earlier study by Melissa Biber Cominole found similar employment and wages between university and CCB grads.⁴³

Perhaps the thorniest issue has to do with direct competition between sectors. Broad access colleges and universities, such as local state colleges and universities and for-profit institutions, may feel that CCBs will threaten their enrollment. Using Florida data, Dennis Kramer, Justin Ortagus, and Jacqueline Donovan studied whether CCB degrees negatively impact university baccalaureate attainment and found this was not the case.⁴⁴ The presence of a local CCB program had a positive effect on bachelor's degree production at nearby public universities. Rather than reduce university baccalaureate attainment, CCB degrees boosted attainment at public universities. The researchers did report a negative effect on bachelor's degree production at nearby for-profit universities, however, suggesting that CCB degrees may reduce market share for for-profit institutions. The extent to which CCB degrees increase attainment of associate and baccalaureate degrees among public community colleges and universities would appear to be a win for the entire higher education system.

Finally, researchers and policymakers have raised concerns that with stretched budgets, the implementation of CCB degrees, especially in Hispanic-serving and other minority-serving institutions, might inadvertently decrease attention on minoritized and marginalized students by shifting resources and focus to baccalaureate degree students, effectively trading one inequity for another.⁴⁵ This concern deserves attention, and along with the questions about potential increases in tuition, should continue to be monitored by researchers and policymakers.

While there is still much to learn, a growing body of research has addressed some of these concerns and illuminated who enrolls in these programs and how they fare. The sections below summarize the role of CCBs in bachelor's program access and CCB graduate outcomes.

Evidence on CCBs and Access to Bachelor's Degree Programs

One of the big hopes for CCBs is that they will expand access to baccalaureate education to a more diverse population of students. Available research suggests that they do. Quantitative data make it clear that students who enroll in CCB programs are highly diverse. Many have attended college before, and some have completed an associate degree before starting their CCB program.⁴⁶ Students in CCB programs in Washington and Florida are older and more racially and ethnically diverse than their university counterparts.⁴⁷ CCBs in Washington show a higher percentage of Black and Latinx graduates and a lower percentage of Asian graduates compared to similar university programs.⁴⁸

In other ways, CCB students are more diverse than community college transfer students and mirror students that are in community college workforce programs. For example, they are more likely to be veterans, receive financial assistance, and have dependents.⁴⁹ In a previous analysis of student demographics in Florida and Washington, Elizabeth Meza and Ivy Love found Florida graduates to be 57 percent female (right on par with bachelor's graduates nationally).⁵⁰ Under half, approximately 42 percent, were people of color, and 47 percent were 30 or older. Students who enroll in Washington's CCB programs are older than other community college students—32, on average, compared to 23 for the state's community college students overall.⁵¹ Students in California pilot programs were less racially diverse than the overall community college population, with students slightly more likely to be white or Asian, but they were also more likely to be receiving financial aid than the general student population.⁵²

We have found some variation based on program. In Washington, students in STEM programs are younger and more white and Asian than students in other programs, suggesting these programs are picking up more traditional students who are pursuing degrees that have competitive admissions requirements and limited space in local universities. This is the case, for example, in computer science.⁵³

While CCB students, across multiple programs, tend to be older than the average community college student, little is known about the trajectories and experiences of young adults who use CCBs to further their education. More research is needed to understand programs that draw younger students and why young students might opt for a CCB pathway as opposed to attempting traditional transfer.

In terms of gender, females made up a similar percentage of university and CCB graduates in Washington. Historic gendered patterns in occupational fields like health care and education hold true among graduates in both community

colleges and universities, though we found a strong representation of women in business that is promising, given their underrepresentation in the past.⁵⁴

In interviews with 17 CCB students and graduates in Washington, students described being drawn to the CCB for a number of reasons, including affordability, already having a connection to the college and feeling comfortable there, convenience of location, and the opportunity to pursue a career pathway that would lead to an in-demand occupation.⁵⁵ The number one reason students in California's CCB pilot program gave for pursuing a CCB was affordability.⁵⁶ Many students we interviewed said that they did not think they would have pursued a bachelor's degree if the community college option wasn't available. This sentiment was echoed by the students in California's pilot colleges where 51 percent of respondents agreed they would not have pursued a bachelor's degree outside of the CCB option. In a follow-up study in California, 56 percent of students said they would not have pursued the bachelors outside of the community college.⁵⁷

Given the relatively recent emergence of CCB degree programs in many states, more research is needed to describe who enrolls in CCB programs and to help ensure that they are meeting the needs of the populations they seek to serve. However, early evidence suggests that CCB degrees are opening bachelor's degree options to a new group of students.

Examining whether CCB degrees increase baccalaureate access and equity, Marcela Cuellar and Patricia Gándara reviewed literature citing the intention of CCB degrees to expand access to bachelor's degrees among first-generation, lowincome, and racially minoritized students.⁵⁸ Their qualitative study involved community college leaders in six colleges in three CCB-conferring states. Cuellar and Gandara wrote that CCB degrees do strive to improve access for low-income students, but they found less convincing evidence that they focus on increasing baccalaureate attainment for racially minoritized students. They concluded that CCB degrees are a potentially valuable policy tool to advance socioeconomic mobility for low-income students, but lack clear equity plans and specific efforts to increase access to baccalaureates among racially minoritized students. Given claims that CCB degree advocates make, Cuellar and Gandara recommended strengthening outreach and support from community colleges conferring these degrees, a recommendation echoed by Edna Martinez, who identifies an equity "missed opportunity" when equity and pedagogy are not centered within the degrees, and instead are focused solely on access to solve equity concerns.⁵⁹

In their study of the CCB in California, Hai Hoang, Davis Vo, and Cecilia Rios-Aguilar conclude that "CCBs have provided an affordable, accessible pathway to baccalaureate attainment for older students, first- generation college students, students from economically disadvantaged backgrounds, students experiencing homelessness, students with disability, students impacted by the foster care system, student veterans, and students of color."⁶⁰ They also point out that demand for CCB degree programs remained high, even through the pandemic, and it rose, despite declining community college enrollment overall, an observation echoed by Wright-Kim. This suggests that students see the value of the bachelor's degree and they value the access and flexibility provided at community colleges.⁶¹

Evidence on CCB Student Outcomes

Perceptions of CCB Degrees

From the start of CCB degrees in the United States, researchers and practitioners have written about the importance of applied degrees that prepare graduates for employment, going so far as to label these degrees "workforce baccalaureates."⁶² Some studies have solicited the opinions of employers on the value of CCB degrees and their willingness to hire CCB graduates. Malcolm Grothe interviewed students and employers about these degrees in Washington and found students expected CCB degrees to result in employment in well-paying, training-related jobs.⁶³ Employer views were similarly linked to the workforce, including expressing a goal of retaining students in communities that might otherwise lose the talent needed to operate local businesses.

Echoing these results, a later qualitative study found that student and employer perceptions of CCB degrees were generally positive.⁶⁴ Employers say CCB graduates who work for their companies possess knowledge and skills immediately applicable to their jobs and also career advancement.

Contrasting with these findings, Bragg and Soler found university personnel were much more skeptical of CCB degrees, questioning their comparability to university baccalaureate degrees and wondering if CCB graduates would struggle to get jobs or experience lower wages. How students access CCBs and what they —and potential employers—expect to gain from these programs is a worthy focus of research.

Completion Outcomes

Students who earn a CCB degree show strong program completion outcomes. Analysis of Washington State using the last three years of available data shows that 68 percent of students who started a CCB program completed within four years of beginning the program.⁶⁵ Comparing this completion rate to that of students who transferred to public universities in Washington in the same years produced similar results: the completion rate of students after they transferred was 70 percent, compared to the 68 percent for CCB graduates, both favorable rates of completion.⁶⁶ In California, CCB pilot students were more likely to graduate than CSU transfer students.⁶⁷ Once admitted to a CCB program to begin upper-division coursework, 67 percent of students obtain a bachelor's degree in two years; 78 percent complete in three years.⁶⁸

Employment Outcomes

Evidence in Florida seems to calm worries about employment for CCB graduates.⁶⁹ CCB graduates showed strong rates of employment and continuing education that were similar to peers with associate degrees in similar areas of study. In fact, 83 percent of baccalaureate graduates were employed four quarters after graduation. However, the employment rate varies by credential level and program of study.⁷⁰ When looking at Florida graduates' employment rates by race and ethnicity four quarters after graduation, Ivy Love observed similar rates between associate graduates and baccalaureate graduates. Black baccalaureate graduates had employment rates three percentage points higher than their peers who earned associate degrees, the greatest difference between associate and bachelor's level for any racial/ethnic group. While differences between credential levels are relatively small for all groups, Indigenous, Asian American, and Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander students had lower employment rates than peers at both credential levels. More research is needed to understand this discrepancy and suggest ways to better support these graduates' trajectories into the labor market.

Looking at the employment of CCB students in Washington compared to university graduates' employment in similar programs, Meza and Bragg found CCB graduates had a higher employment match rate than university graduates in the first and fourth quarters after graduation, and a comparable match rate by the 12th quarter.⁷¹ Research from the Washington SBCTC also showed high employment of CCB graduates, with the highest levels of employment for nursing and other health care graduates.⁷² Data show the employment rate of CCB graduates was 75 percent, compared to 69 percent of university graduates. In the fourth quarter, CCB graduates showed a 77 percent match rate, compared to the 70 percent match rate of university graduates. By the 12th quarter, however, the gap between the groups had closed, with both groups of graduates showing a match rate of approximately 70 percent. It is possible that CCB students graduated with more labor experience, which boosted their wages in initial measured periods. Findings from these two states demonstrate that overall employment rates for CCB graduates are strong. In addition, CCBs seem to be a good access point for students of color, though these degrees do not rectify longstanding inequities of pay in the labor market.

Wage Outcomes

In one of the few studies examining employment and earnings for CCB graduates, New America, in 2020, secured data from the Florida Department of Education to compare wages for CCB and associate degree graduates in similar programs of study.⁷³ Love compared the earnings of CCB graduates to associate

degree graduates in the fourth quarter after graduation, learning that CCB graduates earned about \$10,000 more in annual wages.⁷⁴

Here, too, earnings gains varied by program and race/ethnicity, as well as by gender. A larger wage gain was found from the associate degree to baccalaureate degree for men than for women in computer and information sciences, communications technologies, business, and health care, including nursing. A similar wage gain was found for men and women in visual and performing arts. Black and Latinx graduates demonstrated a higher associate to baccalaureate wage gain than Whites in education and nursing, but all three groups showed a similar wage gain in computer and information sciences and business. These results show that employment and earnings vary by program, race/ethnicity, and gender, pointing to the need to analyze labor market outcomes by program and demographic characteristics. However, we do not know how CCB graduates' earnings compare to those of baccalaureate graduates from primarily-baccalaureate-granting institutions.

Turning to Washington State, where longitudinal data have been gathered on graduates since the time CCB programs were implemented, Darby Kaikkonen found high employment for CCB program graduates from 2009 to 2017, ranging from 80 percent to 92 percent by program area.⁷⁵ Of all CCB graduates, health care graduates showed the most consistent and high employment rate and also exhibited the highest median earnings, approximately \$92,000 annually in the seventh and eighth year after CCB completion. Though computer and information sciences was a relatively new CCB program at the time of Kaikkonen's study, these graduates ranked second to health care on median earnings at two years after completion, at nearly \$58,000 in median annual earnings. Business CCB completers lagged behind the other two program areas in early post-graduation earnings but showed median earnings of nearly \$63,000 by the eighth year after graduates to university bachelor's graduates.

Drawing on a subset of data from the 2017 Kaikkonen study for additional analysis, Darby Kaikkonen and Christopher Quarles studied employment and earnings among Washington CCB graduates compared to associate degree graduates in the same program a year after completion.⁷⁶ Using propensity score matching, they found a difference in earnings between CCB and associate graduates in all three program areas, with the highest earnings gain in health care for CCB graduates, at \$23,848. The CCB graduate earnings gain was more modest in technology and social science.

Using longitudinal data from Washington, Cominole estimated the causal effect of earning a CCB degree on employment and earnings one year past graduation. ⁷⁷ Her dissertation compared labor market outcomes for CCB and university baccalaureate graduates while accounting for geographic proximity. Among other variables, Cominole found CCB nursing graduates were about 33 percent more likely to be employed than university baccalaureate nursing graduates at one year after graduation. CCB business graduates were about 8 percent more likely to be employed than university business graduates during this same time period. Fixed effects regression results show no significant differences between CCB and university graduates in hourly wages one year after graduation for nursing and business. Seeing no negative effect to earning a bachelor's degree from a community college on employment or earnings, Cominole concluded that there is little evidence supporting claims of CCB degrees as inferior to university degrees on the basis of measured labor market outcomes.

Meza and Bragg were interested in how CCB graduates fared compared to students who graduated from one of seven regional universities in Washington in a similar program. Comparing programs by six-digit Classification of Instructional Program (CIP) code and drawing on data from UI wage records, we found earnings tended to be higher for CCB graduates in the first quarter post-graduation than university graduates of similar programs of study, perhaps due to their older age or greater work experience. However, follow-up data over three years suggest university graduates catch up and sometimes slightly exceed CCB graduates in some fields. The researchers did not find statistically significant differences in wages between graduates of universities and CCB programs in any of the four program areas studied at either one quarter, one year, or three years after graduation.⁷⁸

Looking more deeply at health care, a field of study that was identified from the start of Washington CCB policy as critical to growing the state's labor force, we saw that the earnings of CCB graduates were slightly lower than university graduates based on the three quarters of UI wage data we had available. This result may be influenced by the fact that the university group included a large number of nursing graduates, whereas the CCB group included a substantial number of nurses but also graduates of programs in radiation and imaging, dental hygiene, respiratory care, public health, and community health. This difference in health care program composition might contribute to wage differences between CCB graduates and university graduates,⁷⁹ though more research is needed for a more definitive conclusion.

In Florida, earning a CCB provides students with a substantial wage boost over those who earn an associate degree in a similar program,⁸⁰ a finding consistent with other analysis.⁸¹ CCB graduates also show strong employment rates and wages, a finding consistent with previous research.⁸² CCB graduates initially earn slightly more than university graduates in similar programs, but the gap seems to narrow over time. The concern that CCB programs may not be viewed in the labor market as of the same quality as university programs is not obvious in the data examined.⁸³

In California, no official wage data are available to link CCB graduates to employment, but a survey of graduates show students who completed degrees in

2018 reported their salary as of September 2019 to be \$28,000 higher than their salary prior to enrolling in their bachelor's degree programs. For students who graduated in 2019, their current annual salary was on average \$12,000 higher than prior to their enrollment in the pilot programs. Two-thirds of graduates reported that their bachelor's degree helped them to obtain their current position.⁸⁴ Another group of researchers looked at students after the pilot programs and found that 2020 graduates reported a significant increase in income after earning a bachelor's degree; on average, students earned \$18,400 more, a 37 percent increase.⁸⁵

Opportunities for Future Research

There are a number of opportunities for research around the emerging policy area of CCBs. While research in the two states that have expanded CCBs to all-or almost all-community colleges, Florida and Washington, should continue, it is important to add more states to the analysis of access, completion and labor market outcomes. Calls for better labor market information on college graduates are already common in higher education,⁸⁶ but this information is especially critical for CCB programs where preparation for good jobs is a stated goal.

Outcomes of CCB programs disaggregated by gender, race/ethnicity, age, and other demographic characteristics are also important, given the importance of ensuring more equitable outcomes in baccalaureate attainment for underserved populations in higher education. Now that these degrees have been expanded in several states, researchers should look at the impact they have on baccalaureate degree production at the state level and for specific demographic groups. Cuellar and Gandara argue that the early stage of development and implementation of CCB degrees may facilitate "equity-oriented strategies" that could improve baccalaureate completion for underserved populations, especially racially minoritized students, who are often concentrated in community colleges.⁸⁷ We recommend research on factors affecting CCB program completion, labor market outcomes, and other effects not yet studied, for example time to degree and educational pathways to the CCB for diverse student populations. This research will be useful to states, higher education systems, and community colleges considering adopting CCB degrees, as well as students who are considering attending these programs.

Conclusion

Today's college students are often older and more racially and ethnically diverse than in the past, and they may be working one or more jobs, raising families, and struggling to make ends meet. The postsecondary education systems that were built years ago for more traditional students are, in many cases, in need of revising. The COVID-19 health crisis drove home the urgency of this situation, creating increasing demand for flexible and adaptable ways to access higher education. One access point, among other solutions, is the community college baccalaureate. Students are increasingly demanding the kind of flexibility these models offer. And increasing baccalaureate attainment is a goal for many states.

Our review of the literature show that CCBs are expanding access to the baccalaureate and offering students a chance at the labor market returns that come with it that they may not have enjoyed without the community college option. The demographics of CCB students and graduates indicate that the introduction or broadening of CCB authorization may have potential to support more students of color, women in nontraditional fields, older students, and those with dependents.

Our analysis suggests that health care, IT, and business programs, at a minimum, have offered new opportunities for students and that the programs provide strong employment and earnings outcomes as compared to an associate degree or a baccalaureate from a regional university. Expanding CCBs could go a long way toward increasing the number of Americans with degrees and addressing racial and class disparities. Creating more opportunities for Americans to experience those benefits could be as simple as letting more college students finish where they start.

Notes

1 Doug Shapiro, Afet Dundar, Faye Huie, Phoebe Khasiala Wakhungu, Xin Yuan, Angel Nathan, and Youngsik Hwang, *Tracking Transfer: Measures of Effectiveness in Helping Community College Students to Complete Bachelor's Degrees* (Herndon, VA: National Student Clearinghouse Research Center, 2022), https://nscresearchcenter.org/trackingtransfer/.

2 Shapiro et al., Tracking Transfer.

3 Shapiro et al., *Tracking Transfer*; and Gloria Crisp and Anne-Marie Nuñez, "Understanding the Racial Transfer Gap: Modeling Underrepresented Minority and Nonminority Students' Pathways from Two-to Four-Year Institutions," *Review of Higher Education* 37, no. 3 (2014): 291–320, https://doi.org/10.1353/rhe. 2014.0017.

4 J. Causey, A. Gardner, H. Kim, S. Lee, A. Pevitz, M. Ryu, A. Scheetz, and D. Shapiro, *COVID-19 Transfer, Mobility, and Progress: First Two Years of the Pandemic Report* (Herndon, VA: National Student Clearinghouse, 2022), https://nscresearchcenter.org/ wp-content/uploads/ COVIDTransfer2YrofPandemic.pdf.

5 Community College Research Center (website), "Community College FAQs," https:// ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/community-college-faqs.html.

6 U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (website), "Education Pays, 2021: Career Outlook," 2022, https://www.bls.gov/careeroutlook/2022/data-ondisplay/education-pays.htm; Anthony P. Carnevale, Jeff Strohl, Neil Ridley, and Artem Gulish, *Three Educational Pathways to Good Jobs: High School, Middle Skills, and Bachelor's Degree* (Washington, DC: Georgetown University Center on Education and the Workforce, 2018), https://eric.ed.gov/? id=ED590628; and Tiffany Julian, *Work-Life Earnings by Field of Degree and Occupation for People With a Bachelor's Degree: 2011* (Washington, DC: United States Census Bureau, 2012), https://files.eric.ed.gov/ fulltext/ED537269.pdf.

7 Anthony P. Carnevale, Tamara Jayasundera, and Artem Gulish, *America's Divided Recovery: College Haves and Have-Nots* (Washington, DC: Georgetown University Center on Education and the Workforce, 2016), https://cew.georgetown.edu/wp-content/ uploads/Americas-Divided-Recovery-web.pdf.

8 Nicholas W. Hillman, "Geography of College Opportunity," *American Educational Research Journal* 53, no. 4 (2016): 987–1021, https://doi.org/ 10.3102/0002831216653204.

9 Elizabeth Meza, "Overcoming the 'Opportunity Mirage' with Community College Baccalaureate Degrees," *EdCentral* (blog), New America, May 25, 2021,

https://www.newamerica.org/education-policy/ edcentral/overcoming-the-opportunity-mirage-withcommunity-college-baccalaureate-degrees/.

10 Debra D. Bragg, "Pathways to College for Underserved and Nontraditional Students: Lessons from Research, Policy, and Practice," in *The State of College Access and Completion*, ed. Laura W. Perna and Anthony Jones (New York: Routledge, 2013), 46– 68; Mary Alice McCarthy and Debra D. Bragg, "Escaping the Transfer Trap: Want More Students to Get Bachelor's Degrees? Let Community Colleges Award Them," *Washington Monthly*, August 2019, https://washingtonmonthly.com/2019/08/25/ escaping-the-transfer-trap/; and Meza, "Opportunity Mirage."

11 Scott Jaschik and Doug Lederman, *The 2019* Inside Higher Ed Study of Community College Presidents (Washington, DC: Inside Higher Ed and Gallup, 2019), https://d1y8sb8igg2f8e.cloudfront.net/ 2019_Survey_of_Community_College_Presidents.pdf.

12 We use bachelor's and baccalaureate interchangeably. While the literature tends to use "baccalaureate" more frequently, we believe bachelor's is the clearest term for a more general audience.

13 Mary Fulton, Community College Bachelor's Degrees: An Update on State Activity and Policy Considerations (Boulder, CO: Education Commission of the States, 2020), https://www.ecs.org/wpcontent/uploads/Community-College-Bachelors-Degrees.pdf; and Maria Claudia Soler, Updating the National Landscape: State Adoption of Community College Baccalaureate Degrees (Seattle, WA: University of Washington Community College Research Initiative, 2019), https:// www.washington.edu/ccri/2019/11/18/datanote3ccb/.

14 Ivy Love, Debra Bragg, and Tim Harmon, Mappin g the Community College Baccalaureate
(Washington, DC: New America, 2021), https:// www.newamerica.org/education-policy/briefs/ mapping-the-community-college-baccalaureate/.

15 Deborah Floyd and Michael Skolnik, "The Community College Baccalaureate Movement," in *13 Ideas That Are Transforming the Community College World*, ed. Terry O'Banion (Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield, 2019), 103–126.

16 Debra Bragg, Tim Harmon, Tammy Napiontek, Ellen Wasserman, and Angela Kersenbrock, 20 Promising Practices to Advance Quality, Equity, and Success in Community College Baccalaureate (CCB) Degree Programs (Lake Mary, FL: Community College Baccalaureate Association, June 30, 2022), https://www.accbd.org/wp-content/uploads/ 2022/07/CCBA-Ebook.pdf.

17 Debra Bragg and Tim Harmon, *Making the Case* for Community College Baccalaureates (Washington, DC: New America, December 5, 2022) https:// www.newamerica.org/education-policy/briefs/ making-the-case-for-community-collegebaccalaureates-what-supply-and-demand-analysisreveals-in-two-midwest-states/. 18 Barbara K. Townsend, Debra D. Bragg, and Collin
M. Ruud, "Development of the Applied
Baccalaureate," *Community College Journal of Research and Practice* 33, no. 9 (2009): 686–705, https://doi.org/10.1080/10668920902983601.

19 Mark M. D'Amico, Cameron M. Sublett, and James E. Bartlett II, *Preparing the Workforce in Today's Community Colleges: Issues and Implications for Higher Education Leaders* (Washington, DC: American Council on Education, 2019), https:// www.acenet.edu/Documents/Preparing-the-Workforce-in-Todays-Comty-Colleges.pdf.

20 Deborah Floyd and Michael Skolnik, "The Community College Baccalaureate Movement."

21 Debra Bragg and Maria Claudia Soler, "Policy Narratives on Applied Baccalaureate Degrees: Implications for Student Access to and Progression through College in the United States," *Journal of Vocational Education & Training* 69, no. 1 (2017): 123– 146, https://doi.org/10.1080/13636820.2017.1289550; and Lia Wetzstein, Elizabeth Meza, and Debra Bragg, *Evaluating the Student Experience at Community College Baccalaureate Programs* (Washington, DC: New America, May 18, 2022), https:// www.newamerica.org/education-policy/briefs/ evaluating-the-student-experience-at-communitycollege-baccalaureate-programs/.

22 Bragg and Soler, "Policy Narratives on Applied Baccalaureate Degrees"; and Wetzstein, Meza, and Bragg, *Evaluating the Student Experience*.

23 Washington State Board for Community and Technical Colleges (website), "Bachelor's Degree Programs," https://www.sbctc.edu/colleges-staff/ programs-services/bachelors-degrees/.

24 Love, Bragg, and Harmon, *Mapping the Community College Baccalaureate*.

25 Meza, "Opportunity Mirage."

26 Michael L. Skolnik, "Theorizing about the Emergence of the Community College Baccalaureate," *Community College Journal of Research and Practice* 33, no. 2 (2008): 125–50, https://doi.org/10.1080/10668920802564873.

27 Jaschik and Lederman, *Study of Community College Presidents*.

28 Ivy Love, The Baccalaureate and Beyond: An Analysis of Demographics and Labor Market Outcomes of Florida Community College Baccalaureate Graduates (Washington, DC: New America, 2020), https://www.newamerica.org/ education-policy/reports/baccalaureate-andbeyond/.

29 Love, Baccalaureate and Beyond.

30 Love, *Baccalaureate and Beyond*; and Jaschik and Lederman, *Study of Community College Presidents*.

31 Sarah Weissman, "A Legal Impasse or a Turf War?" *Inside Higher Ed*, December 5, 2022, https:// www.insidehighered.com/news/2022/12/05/calstate-objects-proposed-four-year-programs-twoyear-colleges.

32 Fulton, Community College Bachelor's Degrees; and Love, Bragg, and Harmon, Mapping the Community College Baccalaureate.

33 Ivy Love and Iris Palmer, Building Financial Structures to Support Community College Bachelor's Degrees (Washington, DC: New America, 2022) https://www.newamerica.org/education-policy/ briefs/community-college-baccalaureate-financing/.

34 Texas permits the three institutions involved in the state's 2003 CCB pilot program to charge more for upper-division courses if they so choose. All colleges launching programs after the CCB was made permanent must keep tuition level. 35 Authors' calculation based on listed tuition and fees for 2022–23 on institutional and/or state websites.

36 Edna Martinez, "The Rules Change': Exploring Faculty Experiences and Work Expectations within a Drifting Community College Context," *Community College Review* 47, no. 2 (2019): 111–135, https:// doi.org/10.1177/0091552119835022; and Edna Martinez, "Trading Inequities: Hispanic - Serving Community Colleges and Baccalaureate Degree Programs," *New Directions for Community Colleges* 190 (2020): 59–68, https://doi.org/10.1002/cc.20387.

37 Jeremy Wright-Kim, "The Impact of Offering Baccalaureate Degrees on Institutional Enrollment in Community Colleges," *Community College Review* 51, no. 1 (2022), https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/ 10.1177/00915521221125500.

Justin C. Ortagus and Xiaodan Hu, "The Price of Mission Complexity: A National Study of the Impact of Community College Baccalaureate Adoption on Tuition and Fees," *Educational Researcher* 48, no. 8 (2019): 504–20, https://doi.org/
10.3102/0013189×19872494; and Justin C. Ortagus and Xiaodan Hu, "A National Study of the Financial Implications of Community College Baccalaureate Adoption," *Journal of Higher Education* 91, no. 7 (2020): 1053–86, https://doi.org/
10.1080/00221546.2020.1738163.

39 Gabriel Petek, *Final Evaluation of Community College Bachelor's Degree Pilot* (Sacramento: California Legislative Analyst's Office, 2020), https:// lao.ca.gov/reports/2020/4140/final-eval-ccbachelors-degree-012320.pdf.

40 Weissman, "A Legal Impasse or a Turf War?"; and Michael L. Potter, "Concurrence of Colleges and Universities Conferring Baccalaureate Degrees : A Case Study of Washington State" (doctoral dissertation, Northeastern University, 2020), https:// doi.org/10.17760/d20351622. 41 Bragg and Soler, "Policy Narratives on Applied Baccalaureate Degrees."

42 Petek, *Final Evaluation*; and Potter, "Concurrence of Colleges and Universities Conferring Baccalaureate Degrees."

43 Elizabeth Meza and Debra Bragg, "Scaling up Community College Baccalaureates in Washington State: Labor Market Outcomes and Equity Implications for Higher Education," *Education Policy Analysis Archives* 30 (2022), https://doi.org/10.14507/ epaa.30.6834; and Melissa Biber Cominole, "Employment Outcomes for Graduates of Washington State's Applied Baccalaureate Degree Programs" (doctoral dissertation, North Carolina State University, 2017), https:// repository.lib.ncsu.edu/handle/1840.20/34781.

44 Dennis A. Kramer, Justin C. Ortagus, and Jacqueline Donovan, "Competing for Bachelor's Degrees: Are Community Colleges Cutting into the Market Share of 4-Year Institutions?" *American Educational Research Journal* 58, no. 2 (2020): 1–43, https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831220946309.

45 Martinez, "Trading Inequities"; and Angela Vidal-Rodriguez, "The Impact of Adopting a Community College Baccalaureate Policy on States' Graduation Rate and Enrollment: A Consideration for All and Latino Students" (doctoral dissertation, University of Michigan, 2019), https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/ bitstream/handle/2027.42/150041/avidalr_1.pdf? sequence=1.

46 Elizabeth Meza and Ivy Love, Community College Baccalaureate Programs as an Equity Strategy: Student Access and Outcomes Data (Washington, DC: New America, March 3, 2022), https:// www.newamerica.org/education-policy/briefs/ community-college-baccalaureate-programs-as-anequity-strategy-student-access-and-outcomes-data/.

47 Meza and Love, *Baccalaureate Programs as an Equity Strategy*; and Grant Blume, *How Do Students Earning CCB Degrees Compare to Their Peers at* Public Universities in Washington State? (Seattle: University of Washington Community College Research Initiative, 2020) https:// www.washington.edu/ccri/newba_dn5/.

48 Grant Blume, *How Do Students Earning CCB Degrees Compare?*

49 Meza and Love, *Baccalaureate Programs as an Equity Strategy*.

50 National Center for Education Statistics (website), Degrees Conferred by Postsecondary Institutions, by Level of Degree and Sex of Student: Selected Years, 1869-70 through 2027-28 (Washington, DC: Institute of Education Sciences, United States Department of Education), https:// nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d17/tables/ dt17_318.10.asp.

51 Elizabeth Meza, *The Community College Baccalaureate: Who Enrolls*? (Seattle: University of Washington Community College Research Initiative, 2019) https://evans.uw.edu/wp-content/uploads/ 2021/05/NewBA_DataNote2.pdf.

52 Petek, Final Evaluation.

53 Elizabeth Meza, Growth in Enrollment and Completion of STEM Community College
Baccalaureate Degrees in Washington State (Seattle, WA: Community College Research Initiatives, 2019), https://www.washington.edu/ccri/newba_dn6/.

54 Meza and Love, *Baccalaureate Programs as an Equity Strategy*.

55 Wetzstein, Meza, and Bragg, *Evaluating the Student Experience*.

56 Petek, Final Evaluation.

57 Petek, Final Evaluation; and Hai Hoang, Davis Vo, and Cecilia Rios-Aguilar, Benefits and Opportunities: California's Community College Baccalaureate Programs (Davis: University of California-Davis, Wheelhouse Center for Community College Leadership and Research, August 2022), https:// education.ucdavis.edu/sites/main/files/fileattachments/ wheelhouse_research_brief_vol_7_no_1_final.pdf? 1659713681.

58 Marcela G. Cuellar and Patricia Gándara, "Promoting Access and Equity for Underrepresented Racial Minorities? An Examination of Policies and Practices in Community College Baccalaureate Programs," *Community College Review* 49, no. 1 (2020): 52–75, https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0091552120964877.

59 Edna Martinez, "Changes, Challenges, and Opportunities for Student Services at One Baccalaureate Degree–Granting Community College," *Community College Review* 46, no. 1 (2017): 82–103, https://doi.org/10.1177/0091552117744049; and Cuellar and Gándara, "Promoting Access and Equity."

60 Hoang, Vo, and Rios-Aguilar, *Benefits and Opportunities*.

61 Hoang, Vo, and Rios-Aguilar, *Benefits and Opportunities*; and Wright-Kim, "The Impact of Offering Baccalaureate Degrees."

62 Jonathon V. McKee, "Westark's Workforce Baccalaureate," in *The Community College Baccalaureate: Emerging Trends and Policy Issues*, ed. Deborah L. Floyd, Michael L. Skolnik, and Kenneth P. Walker (Sterling, VA: Stylus, 2004).

63 Malcolm Grothe, "The Community College Applied Baccalaureate Degree: Employers' and Graduates' Perspectives" (doctoral dissertation, Oregon State University, 2009), https:// www.proquest.com/docview/304973768.

64 Bragg and Soler, "Policy Narratives on Applied Baccalaureate Degrees."

65 Elizabeth Meza and Debra Bragg, Community College Baccalaureate Degree Completion in Washington (Seattle, WA: Community College Research Initiative, 2020), https:// www.washington.edu/ccri/newba_dn4/.

66 Meza and Love, *Baccalaureate Programs as an Equity Strategy*.

67 Petek, Final Evaluation.

68 Hoang, Vo, and Rios-Aguilar, *Benefits and Opportunities*.

69 Love, The Baccalaureate and Beyond.

70 Meza and Love, *Baccalaureate Programs as an Equity Strategy*.

71 Elizabeth Meza and Debra Bragg, Comparison of the Employment and Earnings Outcomes of Washington Community College Baccalaureate Graduates and University Graduates (Seattle: University of Washington Community College Research Initiative, 2020), https://evans.uw.edu/wpcontent/uploads/2021/05/NewBA-DN8.pdf.

72 Darby Kaikkonen, Program Growth and Graduate Employment Outcomes of Washington's Applied Baccalaureate Degrees (Olympia: Washington State Board of Community and Technical Colleges, 2017), https://www.sbctc.edu/resources/documents/ colleges-staff/research/bachelor-applied-scienceresearch/17-4-applied-baccalaureate-programgrowth-employment-outcomes-8-23-17.pdf.

73 Love, Baccalaureate and Beyond.

74 Love, Baccalaureate and Beyond.

75 Kaikkonen matched SBCTC student records with state unemployment insurance (UI) records to determine whether a student had a UI record indicating employment during a particular quarter. See Kaikkonen, *Program Growth*. 76 Darby Kaikkonen and Christopher Quarles, "The Effect on Earnings of the Applied Baccalaureate," Co *mmunity College Review* 46, no. 4 (2018): 347–367, https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/ 10.1177/0091552118782619.

77 Cominole, "Employment Outcomes for Graduates."

78 Meza and Bragg, "Scaling up Community College Baccalaureates."

79 Meza and Bragg, "Scaling up Community College Baccalaureates."

80 Love, Baccalaureate and Beyond.

81 Kaikkonen and Quarles, "Effect on Earnings."

82 Cominole, "Employment Outcomes for Graduates."

83 Meza and Bragg, Comparison of the Employment and Earnings Outcomes.

84 Petek, Final Evaluation.

85 Hoang, Vo, and Rios-Aguilar, *Benefits and Opportunities*.

86 See, for example, Cameron Sublett and Janae Tovar, "Community College Career and Technical Education and Labor Market Projections," *Communit y College Review* 49, no. 2 (2021): 177–201, https:// journals.sagepub.com/doi/ 10.1177/0091552120982008; and Hoang, Vo, and Rios-Aguilar, *Benefits and Opportunities*.

87 Cuellar and Gándara, "Promoting Access and Equity."



This report carries a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International license, which permits re-use of New America content when proper attribution is provided. This means you are free to share and adapt New America's work, or include our content in derivative works, under the following conditions:

• Attribution. You must give appropriate credit, provide a link to the license, and indicate if changes were made. You may do so in any reasonable manner, but not in any way that suggests the licensor endorses you or your use.

For the full legal code of this Creative Commons license, please visit **creativecommons.org**.

If you have any questions about citing or reusing New America content, please visit **www.newamerica.org**.

All photos in this report are supplied by, and licensed to, **shutterstock.com** unless otherwise stated. Photos from federal government sources are used under section 105 of the Copyright Act.